

Cryopreservation of Potato Shoot Tips

Biao Wang • Zhenfang Yin • Chaohong Feng • Xiao Shi • Yupeng Li • Qiaochun Wang*

Key Laboratory of Horticultural Plant Genetic Improvement of Northwest China, College of Horticulture, Northwest Agricultural and Forest University, Yangling 712100, Shaanxi, P. R. China

Corresponding author: * giaochunwang@nwsuaf.edu.cn

ABSTRACT

Potato is one of the most important staple crops in both developed and developing countries of the world. Potato genetic resources are a prerequisite for potato breeding in both conventional and genetic engineering programmes. Cryopreservation has long been considered an ideal means for the long-term conservation of plant genetic resources. This review provides comprehensive information on variously novel cryogenic techniques that have been developed since 1990. Factors affecting the success of cryopreservation of potato shoot tips are analyzed and discussed. Evidence of morphological and molecular analysis demonstrates that plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips are genetically stable. Efficient elimination of potato viruses by cryotherapy of shoot tips provides an alternative method for virus elimination. Thus, the materials can be simultaneously prepared for virus elimination and long-term preservation. Routine application of cryopreservation of shoot tips for the long-term preservation of potato genetic resources has already started in Germany, Peru, Czech Republic and Korea. Species- and cultivar-specificity has to be taken into account for much wider application when cryoprotocols are to be developed. Fundamental studies on mechanisms by which potato shoot tips withstand freezing in liquid nitrogen would help solve this problem.

Keywords: genetic resources, long-term preservation, shoot tips, virus, Solanum

Abbreviations: BAP, 6-benzyl aminopurine; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; GA₃, gibberellic acid; IAA, indole-3-acetic acid; LN, liquid nitrogen; MS, Murashige and Skoog (1962); NAA, naphthalene acetic acid; PLRV, *Potato leafroll virus*; PVS2, plant vitrification solution 2 (Sakai *et al.* 1990); PVY, *Potato virus Y*; RAPD, random amplified polymorphic DNA; RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	46
NOVEL CRYOGENIC TECHNIQUES	47
Droplet freezing	47
Encapsulation-dehydration	47
Vitrification	48
Encapsulation-vitrification	48
Droplet-vitrification	49
ULTRASTRUCTURAL AND HISTOLOGICAL STUDIES	49
FACTORS AFFECTING CRYOPRESERVATION	50
Stock cultures	50
Shoot tips	50
Preculture	50
Loading	
Vitrification	
Warming	
Unloading	
Post-culture	
GENETIC STABILITY	
VIRUS ELIMINATION	52
CONCLUSIONS	52
REFERENCES	52

INTRODUCTION

Potato, a member of the Solanaceae family, is native to the Andes Mountains of Peru and Bolivia. The cultivated potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) has at least 2400 years of history in cultivation. Potato is globally the fourth largest staple crop next to rice, wheat and maize. During the last two decades, although potato production in developed countries decreased, an increase in potato production throughout the world has

continued, mainly due to an increase in developing countries (FOA 2006). In 2006, the total area and yield of the world's potato production reached 19.3 million hectares and 325 million tons, respectively, with the average yield being 16.8 tons per hectare (FOA 2007). China is now the biggest potato-producing country, accounting for more than 20% of the global potato-growing areas and potato yield. Plant genetic resources, including cultivated varieties and wild species, are a prerequisite for potato breeding in both conventional and genetic engineering programmes (Bradshaw *et al.* 2006). Germplasm conservation has an important role to play in the maintenance of biodiversity and in avoidance of genetic erosion.

Cryopreservation, i.e. storage of biological specimens at the ultra-low temperature of liquid nitrogen (LN, -196°C), is considered as an ideal means for the long-term conservation of plant germplasm (Engelmann 1997). At this temperature, all cellular divisions and metabolic processes essentially cease, and theoretically, plant materials can thus be stored without any change for an indefinite period of time (Engelmann 1997). Moreover, such storage requires a small volume, demands very limited maintenance, and thus lowers the cost. For long-term storage of genetic resources, organized tissues such as shoot tips are preferred over callus and cell cultures because they are genetically more stable (Bajaj 1991).

Potato is one of the most amenable of major crop plants to cryopreservation (Henshaw et al. 1985; Mix-Wagner 1999; Gonzalez-Arnao et al. 2008). Cryogenic studies on potato started from the late 1970s with the development of ultra-rapid freezing (Bajaj 1977, 1978; Grout and Henshaw 1978; Bajaj 1981; Towill 1981a; Benson et al. 1989) and two-step freezing methods (Grout and Henshaw 1978; Towill 1981a, 1981b, 1983, 1984; Benson et al. 1989). These so-called conventional methods have disadvantages including low survival, lag phase of recovery and callus formation (Towill 1983, 1984; Henshaw et al. 1985; Benson et al. 1989). In addition, the two-step freezing method is complicated and time-consuming, and requires a programmable freezer which could be too expensive for many laboratories to use. The conventional methods for cryostorage of potato shoot tips have been extensively reviewed by Henshaw et al. (1985), Mix-Wagner (1999) and Gonzalez-Arnao et al. (2008). For the long-term storage of genetic resources, development of reliable protocols that produce high recovery and are cost-effective is the basic requirement. Since the 1990s, great efforts have been made to establish novel cryogenic procedures that allow shoot tips to be directly immersed in LN, thus avoiding usage of programmable freezer, and at the same time producing high percentages of survival and plant regeneration of cryopreserved shoot tips. To date, various novel cryogenic protocols have been developed for potato, including droplet freezing (Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1994, 1996, 1997), encapsulation-dehydration (Fabre and Dereuddre 1990; Benson et al. 1996; Bouafia et al. 1996), vitrification (Towill 1990; Schnabel-Preikstas et al. 1992; Sarkar and Naik 1998), encapsulation-vitrification (Hirai and Sakai 1999) and droplet-vitrification (Halmagyi et al. 2005; Kim et al. 2006; Yoon et al. 2006). Successful establishment of these novel cryogenic protocols has made cryopreservation of potato shoot tips most advanced in comparison with other crop species. Now, cryostorage has been routinely used for the long-term storage of potato germplasm in the Institute of Plant Genetics and Crop Plant Research in Germany (Keller and Dreiling 2003; Keller et al. 2006), at the International Potato Centre (CIP) in Peru (Golmirzaie and Panta 2000; Panta et al. 2006; Gonzalez-Arnao et al. 2008), in the Research Institute of Crop Production in Czech Republic (Faltus et al. 2006) and at the National Institute of Agricultural Biotechnology in Korea (Kim et al. 2006; Yoon et al. 2006, 2007). The development and routine application of cryopreservation techniques for tropical crops including potato have been reviewed recently by Gonzalez-Arnao et al (2008).

NOVEL CRYOGENIC TECHNIQUES

Droplet freezing

The droplet method, originally described by Kartha *et al.* (1982) for cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) shoot tips, was successfully modified by Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* (1994, 1996, 1997) for cryopreservation of potato (*S. tuberosum*) shoot tips. In this procedure, *in vitro* stock plantlets were

grown in 12 cm high jars containing Murashige and Skoog (MS, 1962) medium, and maintained at 23°C under light conditions. When the plantlets reached 10 cm in height, shoot tips in 2-3 mm long and 0.5-1 mm thick were excised and incubated at 23°C on MSTo medium. MSTo medium is composed of MS supplemented with 30 g/l sucrose and plant growth regulators described by Towill (1983): 0.5 mg/l zeatin riboside, 0.2 mg/l gibberellic acid (GA₃) and 0.5 mg/l indole-3-acetic acid (IAA). Following incubation, shoot tips were transferred into a cryoprotectant solution made of MSTo containing 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). After incubation for 2 h at room temperature, 2.5 µl droplets of the cryoprotectant were pipetted onto heat-sterilized pieces $(0.7 \times 2 \text{ cm})$ of 0.3 mm thick aluminum foils (6 droplets per foil). One shoot tip was transferred into each droplet and then two foils were transferred into a 2 ml pre-cooled cryotube prior to direct immersion in LN for cryostorage. After thawing at room temperature, shoot tips were post-cultured on MSTo medium for recovery. Regenerated shoots were transferred onto MS medium without any hormones for whole plant regeneration and further micropropagation.

Using 219 varieties and genotypes of potato, Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* (1997) found that all of them could withstand freezing in LN using the droplet method with an average survival and regeneration percentage reaching 80 and 40%, respectively, for most of the varieties and genotypes tested. The droplet method has been routinely used for the longterm preservation of potato germplasm at the Institute of Crop and Grassland Science in Baunschweig (Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1997; Mix-Wagner *et al.* 2003) and at the Institute of Plant Genetics and Crop Plant Research in Gatersleben of Germany (Keller and Dreiling 2003; Keller *et al.* 2006). Since the year 2002, all the potato cryopreservation was unified and moved to Gatersleben in which 1028 accessions of potato germplasm have to date been cryopreserved (Keller *et al.* 2006).

The droplet method is simple, easy to implement and successful with a large number of potato species and genotypes (Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1996, 1997; Mix-Wagner 1999, 2003; Keller and Dreiling 2003). The procedure is relatively cheap (Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1996, 1997). However, cultivar-specificity is still a major problem which in some cases resulted in low survival (<20%) and low plant regeneration (<40%) (Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1996, 1997). Improvement of survival and regeneration of cryostored shoot tips of some difficult cultivars still needs further studies (Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1996, 1997; Mix-Wagner 1999; Keller and Dreiling 2003).

Encapsulation-dehydration

Using Solanum phureja, a diploid species of potato, Fabre and Dereuddre (1990) were the first to develop encapsulation-dehydration for cryopreservation of potato shoot tips. In vitro stock shoots were maintained on medium A composed of MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) minerals, Morel and Wetmore (1951) vitamins, 30 g/l sucrose and 8 g/l agar (pH 5.8). The stock shoots used for cryopreservation were cultured at 20°C, under a light intensity of 50 μ E m⁻²s⁻¹ and 70% relative humidity. Apical sections from 8-10 week-old stock shoots were transferred onto medium A for 7 days. Shoot tips of 0.5 mm in size with 3-4 leaf primordia were excised, and collected on medium B consisted of Morel and Muller (1964) macroelements, Heller (1953) microelements, Morel and Wetmore (1951) vitamins, 0.1 M sucrose, 0.001 mg/l NAA, 0.01 mg/l BAP, 5.0 mg/l GA3 and agar 8g/l (pH 5.8). The shoot tips were suspended in liquid calcium-free medium B supplemented with 3% (w/v) low viscosity sodium alginate. The mixture was dropped into liquid medium B containing 0.1 M calcium chlorite to form beads, each bead being about 3 mm in diameter and containing 1-2 shoot tips. The beads were pre-cultured for 72 h in Erlenmeyer flasks containing liquid medium B supplemented with 0.75 M sucrose. Precultured shoot tips were dehydrated by air drying in a laminar flow at room temperature for

4 h after which the water content of the beads reached about 44% (fresh weight basis). Dehydrated beads were subjected to either direct freezing or two-step freezing. Following slow warming at room temperature, frozen shoot tips were post-cultured on solid medium B for survival and shoot regeneration. Although 19.6% shoot tips withstood direct freezing, none of them developed shoots. With two-step freezing, about 70 and 27% of cryopreserved shoot tips survived and regenerated into shoots.

However, when this encapsulation-dehydration protocol was applied to other genotypes of S. phureja and S. tuberosum (tetraploidy), survival was strongly genotype- and species-specific (Bouafia et al. 1996). Therefore, a modified protocol was proposed (Bouafia et al. 1996) in which excised shoot tips were reactivated for 14 days by culturing them on the same medium as used for maintenance of the stock shoots. Following encapsulation, the shoot tips were either stepwise or directly precultured on sucrose-rich medium. Stepwise preculture was performed by culturing the shoot tips on solid medium with progressively increasing sucrose concentrations (0.3, 0.5, 0.75 and 1 M) for 12 h for each concentration, followed by maintaining in 1 M sucrose for 3 days. Direct preculture was carried out by placing encapsulated shoot tips on solid medium containing 0.75 M sucrose for 2 days. Using this modified protocol, all cultivars tested (3 cultivars of S. phureja and 2 cultivars of S. tuberosum) survived and regenerated into shoots. Average survival of cryopreserved shoot tips of these 5 cultivars was over 65% using direct preculture with 0.75 M sucrose for 2 days. In comparison, overall means of survival were higher in diploid cultivars (70%) than in tetraploid cultivars (57%). These results suggest that diploid cultivars (S. phureja) were more tolerant to dehydration than tetraploid cultivars (S. tuberosum). When using encapsulation-dehydration for cryopreserving six potato species representing three series and three ploidy levels (diploid, tetraploid and hexaploid), Benson et al. (1996) found that although considerable variations in recovery existed between the experimental replicates, and between early (1-2 weeks after thawing) and longer-term (5-6 weeks after thawing) recovery, all potato genotypes studied could survive and regenerate plantlets, with lowest (14%) and highest (32%) plant regeneration obtained for S. guerreroense (hexaploid) and S. acaule (tetraploid), respectively.

Vitrification

Towill (1990) and Schnabel-Preikstas et al. (1992) were the first to successfully apply vitrification for cryopreservation of potato shoot tips. Sarkar and Nail (1998) described in detail the vitrification protocol and applied the established method to five tetraploid potato cultivars (S. tuberosum). In this protocol, in vitro stock plantlets were maintained on a micropropagation medium composed of MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with 8.39 µM Dcalcium pantothenate, 0.29 µM GA₃, 0.054 µM naphthalene acetic acid (NAA), 30 g/l sucrose and 8 g/l agar (Sarkar et al. 1997). Apical shoot tips of 0.5-0.7 mm long excised from 30-day old plantlets were precultured on filter paper over half-strength liquid MS medium supplemented with 8.7 µM GA₃, 0.3-0.5 M sucrose and 0.2 M mannitol for 2 days under a 16 h photoperiod with a light intensity of 40 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹ at 24°C. Precultured shoot tips were loaded successively with 20% and 60% plant vitrification solution 2 (PVS2) (Šakai et al. 1990), with the former for 30 min at room temperature and the latter for 15 min on an ice bath. PVS2 solution contains 30% (w/v) glycerol, 15% (w/v) ethylene glycol, 15% (w/v) DMSO and 0.4 M sucrose in MS medium. Loaded shoot tips were dehydrated with PVS2 at 0°C for 5 min. Following PVS2 treatment, shoot tips were transferred into cryotubes, each containing 5 shoot tips in 0.7 ml PVS2. Cryotubes were then directly immersed in LN for cryostorage. Frozen shoot tips were warmed for 1 min at 35°C and washed with a dilution medium [1.2 M sucrose in liquid MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962)] for 30

min, followed by growing on MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium containing 0.2 M sucrose, 5.8 μ M GA₃, 1.0 μ M BAP and 6 g/l agar. The cultures were placed under a 16 h diffuse light (6 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹) photoperiod at 24°C for 1 week and then transferred onto MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with 0.09 M sucrose, 2.9 μ M GA₃ and 6 g/l agar under the normal light conditions for recovery. With the optimized parameters, about 54% of cryopreserved shoot tips survived, of which about 50% directly regenerated into shoots without callus formation.

Kryszczuk *et al.* (2006) compared the effects of the vitrification and droplet method on cryopreservation of potato (*S. tuberosum*) shoot tips and found that average survival and shoot regeneration of cryopreserved shoot tips of four cultivars were significantly higher using the vitrification method (79.8% and 58%, respectively) than the droplet method (36.7% and 13.8%, respectively). Compared with encapsulation-dehydration and encapsulation-vitrification, vitrification is simple, time-saving and also low in cost (Sarkar and Naik 1998). Like other cryogenic procedures, vitrification is also genotype-dependent (Sarkar and Naik 1998; Kryszczuk *et al.* 2006). Up to 2006, the vitrification method has been used for long-term preservation of 446 accessions of potato genetic resources at the International Potato Centre in Peru (Gonzalez-Arnao 2008).

Encapsulation-vitrification

Hirai and Sakai (1999) described an encapsulation-vitrification protocol for successful cryopreservation of potato (S. tuberosum) shoot tips. Nodal segments of 3-4 nodes with an apical bud taken from in vitro stock shoots were cultured on a basic medium composed of MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with 0.5 g/l casamino acid, 30 g/l sucrose and 2.5 g/l gellan-gum, and placed at 23°C under a 16 h photoperiod at 96 mol m^2s^{-1} . Following incubation for 2 weeks, the segments were cold-hardened at 4°C for 3 weeks under a 12 h photoperiod at 20 mol m⁻²s⁻¹. Axillary buds of 1 mm in size with 5 leaf primordia were excised from the cold-hardened segments and precultured on basal MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium containing 0.3 M sucrose, 1 mg/l GA₃, 0.01 mg/l BAP and 0.001 mg/l NAA at 23°C for 16 h. Precultured shoot tips were encapsulated in 0.1 M CaCl₂ solution containing 0.4 M sucrose and 2 M glycerol, for 30 min at 25 $^{\circ}$ C to form beads of about 4 mm in diameter, each bead containing one shoot tip. The beads were osmoprotected with a loading solution composed of MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with 2 M glycerol and 0.6 M sucrose, on a rotary shaker (60 rpm) at 25°C for 90 min. Osmoprotected beads were dehydrated with PVS2 on a rotary shaker (45 rpm) at 0°C for 3 h. After dehydration, beads were transferred in 1 ml PVS2 contained in 1.8-ml cryotubes which were then directly plunged into LN. After cryostorage, cryotubes were rapidly warmed in a water bath at 38° Frozen shoot tips were washed with 1.2 M sucrose solution for 10 min, followed by post-culture on the basal medium for 1 day and then transferred onto the basal medium containing 0.0005 mg/l GA₃ for recovery. Surviving shoot tips resumed growth within 3 days and developed shoots within 10 days of post-culture without intermediary callus formation. When this encapsulation-vitrification protocol was applied to other 12 cultivars, recovery varied with genotype (Table 1).

According to the authors, the encapsulation-vitrification method usually produces much higher shoot regeneration and much faster regrowth than encapsulation-dehydration (Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000). This method is also easy to handle and can be used to treat a large number of shoot tips at the same time. However, genotype-specific response is still a main problem limiting its wide applications to different genotypes of potato (Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000).

Table 1	Exam	ples of	potato	shoot	tips	crvo	preserved	l bv	novel	crvog	enic	techniques	since	1990.
	2		poraro	011000	uppe	•••	preserves	,		.,		ce en ingae.	,	1 / / 0.

Cryogenic procedure	Species	Cultivars or accessions	Reference
Encapsulation-vitrification	S. tuberosum	14	Hirai and Sakai 1999
	S. tuberosum	13	Hirai and Sakai 2000
	S. tuberosum	1	Wang <i>et al.</i> 2006
Encapsulation-dehydration	S. phureja	1	Fabre and Dereuddre 1990
	S. phureja	1	Benson et al. 1996
	S. tuberosum	1	Benson et al. 1996
	S. Brachycarpum	1	Benson et al. 1996
	S. acaule	1	Benson et al. 1996
	S. guerreroense	1	Benson et al. 1996
	S. iopetalum	1	Benson et al. 1996
	S. phureja	2	Bouafia et al. 1996
	S. phureja × chacoense	1	Bouafia et al. 1996
	S. tuberosum	2	Bouafia et al. 1996
	S. tuberosum	14	Hirai and Sakai 1999
	S. tuberosum	1	Grospietsch et al. 1999
	S. tuberosum	12	Hirai and Sakai 2000
	S. tuberosum	1	Wang et al. 2006
Droplet freezing	S. tuberosum	125	Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996
	S. tuberosum	219	Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1997
	S. tuberosum	245	Mix-Wagner 1999
	S. tuberosum	10	Barandalla et al. 2003
	S. tuberosum	260	Keller and Dreiling 2003
	S. tuberosum	150	Panta et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	4	Kryszczuk et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	5	Keller et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	4	Faltus et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	1	Wang et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	5	Sarkar and Naik 1998
Vitrification	S. tuberosum	2	Zhao et al. 2005
	S. tuberosum	4	Kryszczuk et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	3	Halmagyi et al. 2005
	S. tuberosum	6	Kim et al. 2006
Droplet-vitrification	S. stenotomum	2	Kim et al. 2006
	S. gonicalxy	2	Kim et al. 2006
	S. chacoense	2	Kim et al. 2006
	S. tuberosum	2	Yoon <i>et al.</i> 2006
	S. tuberosum	1	Yoon <i>et al.</i> 2007
	S. stenotomum	1	Yoon <i>et al.</i> 2007

Droplet-vitrification

The droplet-vitrification method is based on the droplet method described by Schäfer-Menuhr et al. (1994, 1996, 1997). In vitro stock shoots were maintained on hormone-free MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium at 24°C under a 16 h photoperiod with a light intensity of 39 μ Em⁻²s⁻¹ (Halmagyi et al. 2005). Subculture was done once every 4 weeks. Apical shoot tips of 3-4 mm in length with 2-4 leaf primordia were excised from 1- to 2-month old stock shoots and then placed for 24 h at 24°C on filter papers saturated with P_1 medium made of liquid MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium containing 0.4 mg/l GA₃, 0.5 mg/l zeatin and 0.2 mg/l IAA. Shoot tips were then precultured on MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with 0.5 M sucrose. Following preculture for 24 h, each shoot tip was dehydrated in a 4 µl droplet of PVS2 placed on sterilized aluminum foil strips of 0.6 cm \times 1.5 cm for 20 min at room temperature. After dehydration, the aluminum foils with shoot tips were transferred into 2 ml pre-cooled cryotubes prior to direct immersion in LN. Thawing was carried out by rapid transfer of the frozen aluminum foils into P_1 medium at room temperature. Thawed shoot tips were postcultured on P_2 medium, a semi-solid (3.5 g/l agar) P_1 medium, for regrowth. With this protocol, cryopreserved shoot tips resumed growth within 20 days and regenerated shoots within 30 days. The average regrowth of cryopreserved shoot tips of three potato (S. tuberosum) cultivars was about 51% (Halmagyi et al. 2005).

Kim *et al.* (2006) compared the effects of four cryogenic procedures including droplet-vitrification A (Towill and Bonnart 2003), droplet-vitrification B (Kim *et al.* 2006), droplet (Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996, 1997) and vitrification (Golmirzaie and Panta 2000) on efficiency of cryopreservation of potato shoot tips. They found that the highest survival was obtained using droplet-vitrification B (Kim et al. 2006). The main difference between droplet vitrification A and B lies in warming step. In the former, the cryovials are immersed in a water bath at 40°C for 5 s, and then unloading solution containing 0.8 M sucrose is poured in the cryovial, while in the latter, the frozen foil strips with shoot tips are removed out from the cryovial and immediately plunged in pre-heated unloading solution containing 0.8 M sucrose at 40°C for 30 s, followed by treatment in precooled unloading solution. This optimized protocol was successfully applied to 12 accessions of three potato species (S. tuberosum, S. stenotomum and S. chacoense), with their survivals ranging between 64 to 94%. The vitrificationdroplet technique has been routinely employed for longterm preservation of potato genetic resources at the International Potato Center (CIP) in Peru (Panta et al. 2006) and at the National Institute of Agricultural Biotechnology in Korea (Kim et al. 2006; Yoon et al. 2006). Up to 2006, 446 accessions of potato had been cryostored at CIP with their recoveries ranging between 5 and 85% (Gonzalez-Arnao et al. 2008), thus indicating that success of droplet-vitrification depends on genotype (Panta et al. 2006; Gonzalez-Arnao et al. 2008).

ULTRASTRUCTURAL AND HISTOLOGICAL STUDIES

Using the ultra-rapid freezing method described by Grout and Henshaw (1978), Grout and Henshaw (1980) carried out histological and ultrastructural studies on cryopreserved potato shoot tips. Following cryopreservation, surviving cells were observed scattered throughout the tissues of the apical dome and leaf primordia in the form of single cells or small groups of cells. Massive damage caused by freezingthaw cycle was associated with rupture of the epidermis of the shoot tips. In the damaged areas, total breakdown of the protoplast and in worst cases, cell wall rupture with loss of the protoplast contents were observed by transmission electron microscopy. Surviving shoot tips showed expansion of the leaf primordia within 7-10 days and formed small plantlets within 6 weeks of post-culture (Grout and Henshaw 1980). Occasionally, plantlets could regenerate following expansion of a single leaf primordium and of a part of the meristem dome. However, no plantlets could regenerate in surviving shoot tips that just developed a portion of a single leaf primordium. These shoot tips only developed large, green, expanded leaflets without further shoot development. Similar results were also observed in shoot tips cryopreserved by encapsulation-dehydration (Benson et al. 1996). These data indicate that the leaf primordia, but not the apical meristems, withstood freezing in liquid nitrogen. Using the droplet method developed by Schäfer-Menuhr et al. (1994), Kaczmarczyk et al. (2006) found that cells in the apical dome of potato shoot tips did not survive following cryopreservation, while a small group of cells in the leaf primordium close to the apical dome did survive and subsequently developed into shoots. The above data obtained with different cryogenic procedures suggest that only small group of cells in potato shoot tips withstand freezing, and these small groups of cells are sufficient for new plant regeneration

Working with the vitrification method, Golmirzaie *et al.* (2000) carried out ultrastructural studies on cryopreserved shoot tips of four potato genotypes. They found that abnormal changes including abnormal cytoplasm, cell plasmolysis of different degrees and a large number of vesicles were most often observed in cryopreserved shoot tips. Damage related with cytoplasm and cell plasmolysis was negatively correlated with survival and differed largely with genotypes. For example, the most serious damage was observed in cryopreserved shoot tips of the genotype 703838 which gave the lowest survival (6.1%) among the other three genotypes.

FACTORS AFFECTING CRYOPRESERVATION

Treatments involved in the whole cryogenic procedure from preparation of stock cultures to plant regeneration have all been found to significantly influence success of cryopreservation of potato shoot tips. Several key factors are briefly discussed below.

Stock cultures

With the vitrification procedure, Zhao et al. (2005) found that cold hardening (10°C) of stock cultures for 3 weeks significantly improved recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips, compared with non-hardened ones. Survival of cryopreserved shoot tips of four potato cultivars by droplet vitrification increased when in vitro stock cultures were coldhardened at 6°C for 3 weeks (Panta et al. 2006). However, Hirai and Sakai (1999, 2000) reported that both cold-hardened (4°C for 3 weeks) and non-hardened stock cultures gave similar levels of recovery using encapsulation-vitrification. Cold treatment (21/8°C, day/night) of in vitro stock plantlets caused reduction in survival and shoot regeneration of shoot tips cryopreserved by vitrification, while the same treatment improved survival and regeneration using droplet freezing (Kryszczuk et al. 2006). With the droplet vitrification procedure, Halmagyi et al. (2005) suggested that cold hardening (4°C) was not necessary for successful cryopreservation of shoot tips of three potato cultivars (S. tuberosum). Therefore, it is likely that the effect of cold treatment of the stock cultures may depend on the cryogenic

method or cultivar used. Subculture duration has been shown to largely influence survival of cryopreserved shoot tips (Bouafia *et al.* 1996; Yoon *et al.* 2006). With *S. tuberosum*, the optimal duration was 5 and 7 weeks for cvs. STN13 and Dejima, respectively (Yoon *et al.* 2006). Culture conditions of the stock shoots including light intensity, aeration and planting density were all shown to significantly influence survival of cryopreserved shoot tips (Yoon *et al.* 2006, 2007). A combination of high light intensity, good aeration of culture vessels and low planting density resulted in high survival. Among these factors, aeration was shown to be the most important one affecting survival (Yoon *et al.* 2006, 2007).

Shoot tips

Halmagyi et al. (2005) found that recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of three potato cultivars (S. tuberosum) decreased as bud position increased from the terminal (bud 1) to the basal bud (bud 5). Survival of cryopreserved shoot tips at early stage (3-4 weeks following post-culture) was lower in shoot tips taken from lower part of the stock shoots than from other parts, while the survival at late stage (5-7 weeks following post-culture) was lower in apical shoot tips of the stock shoots than from other parts (Yoon et al. 2006). However, Hirai and Sakai (1999) did not observe any additional effects of bud position on survival of cryopreserved shoot tips. Comparing effects of size of shoot tips on survival, Halmagyi et al. (2005) demonstrated that size of shoot tips significantly influenced survival with the highest recovery obtained with 3-4 mm shoot tips. Smaller (1-2 mm) or larger (5-6 mm) shoot tips displayed lower survival. Using two cultivars for cryopreservation, Yoon et al. (2006) found that optimal size of shoot tips for survival was 1.5-2.0 mm for cv. 'Dejima' and 1.0-1.5 mm for cv. 'STN13'. These data indicate that the optimal size of shoot tips for survival may vary with different cultivars. Reactivation of excised shoot tips, by culturing them on the same medium as used for maintenance of the stock cultures, for 2 weeks before encapsulation, was found to significantly improve survival of cryopreserved shoot tips of S. phureja cv. 'Si22' (Bouafia et al. 1996).

Preculture

A prerequisite for successful cryopreservation is the induction of a high level of tolerance of shoot tips to dehydration and subsequent freezing in LN. In many cases, preculture is a necessary step to induce such tolerance. Sucrose is the sugar most often used for preculture (Fabre and Dereuddre 1990; Bouafia et al. 1996; Grospietsch et al. 1999; Hirai and Sakai 1999; Yoon et al. 2006), although other sugars such as glucose, mannitol and sorbitol have also been tested (Sarkar and Naik 1998; Halmagyi et al. 2005; Criel et al. 2006). Two preculture methods, i.e. direct and stepwise preculture, are mainly used. Sucrose concentrations ranging from 0.3 to 0.75 M were usually found suitable for obtaining high survivals of cryopreserved shoot tips (Fabre and Dereuddre 1990; Bouafia et al. 1996; Hirai and Sakai 1999; Halmagyi et al. 2005). Using direct preculture with various sucrose concentrations ranging from 0.3 M to 1.5 M, Halmagyi et al. (2005) found that the optimal concentration for recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of three potato (S. tuberosum) was 0.5 M. Among the four sugars including sucrose, glucose, sorbitol and mannitol tested for preculture, sucrose was found best for shoot regeneration of cryopreserved shoot tips of three cultivars (S. tuberosum) (Halmagyi et al. 2005). Compared with direct preculture, stepwise preculture with increased sucrose concentration, i.e. 0.3 M sucrose for 24 h followed by 0.7 M sucrose for 7 h, markedly enhanced survival of cryopreserved shoot tips (Yoon et al. 2006). Preculture with a mixture of 0.3 M sucrose and 0.2 M mannitol produced much higher survival and direct shoot regeneration of cryopreserved shoot tips than preculture with 0.3 M sucrose alone and higher sucrose concentrations (0.5-0.7 M) (Sarkar and Naik 1998). Preculture with sugar-enriched medium was found to significantly promote accumulation of internal sugars and proline level of precultured shoot tips, which was beneficial to survival of cryopreserved shoot tips of potato (Grospietsch *et al.* 1999). Recently, Criel *et al.* (2006) reported that preculture with sorbitol at 0.055-0.22 M largely improved recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of potato cv. 'Desiree' (*S. tuberosum*). Proteome analysis revealed different protein patterns between plantlets precultured with sorbitol and without sorbitol (Criel *et al.* 2006). Carbohydrates and polyols were much higher in shoot tips precultured with sorbitol than in the controls. Such high intracellular osmolyte concentrations may contribute to the achievement of high recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips (Criel *et al.* 2006).

Loading

In vitrification-based procedures, exposure of precultured shoot tips to plant vitrification solution without osmoprotection caused in many cases harmful stress to the shoot tips (Sarkar and Naik 1998; Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000). Thus, an osmoprotection (loading) of the shoot tips was necessary in order to obtain high survival of cryopreserved shoot tips (Sarkar and Naik 1998; Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000; Zhao et al. 2005). Using different loading solutions composed of various sucrose concentrations (0.4-1.6 M) and their combinations with 2 M glycerol for osmoprotection, Hirai and Sakai (1999, 2000) showed that a mixture of 0.4 M sucrose and 2 M glycerol gave the best results of shoot formation of cryopreserved shoot tips. Survival of cryopreserved shoot tips increased markedly when precultured shoot tips were successively loaded with 20% and 60% PVS2 before vitrification with 100% PVS2 (Sarkar and Naik 1998). In contrast to the above results, loading treatment (2 M glycerol and 0.4 M sucrose) did not significantly affect survival of shoot tips cryopreserved by droplet-vitrification (Yoon et al. 2006).

Vitrification

Vitrification is the physical transition process of water from a liquid directly into a non-crystalline amorphous phase, a glass, by an extreme elevation in viscosity during cooling (Fahy *et al.* 1984). Although other plant vitrification solutions have been tested, PVS2 has been the most often used one (Sarkar and Naik 1998; Hirai and Sakai 1998; Halmagyi *et al.* 2005; Zhao *et al.* 2005; Kim *et al.* 2006; Yoon *et al.* 2006). Duration of exposure to vitrification solution varied with different species or cultivars (Halmagyi *et al.* 2005) and sizes of shoot tips (Halmagyi *et al.* 2005). Recently, Zhao *et al.* (2005) found that addition of Supercool x1000, a new ice blocking agent, to PVS2 markedly enhanced recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of two potato cultivars (*S. tuberosum*).

Warming

Both slow warming at room temperature (Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1994, 1996; Bouafia *et al.* 1996; Schäfer-Menuhr *et al.* 1997; Halmagyi *et al.* 2005) and rapid warming at 35-40°C for 1-3 min (Hirai and Sakai 1998; Sarkar and Naik 1998; Zhao *et al.* 2005; Kryszczuk *et al.* 2006) have been employed in cryopreservation of potato shoot tips. Much higher survival of cryopreserved shoot tips was obtained by dipping the frozen foil strips in pre-heated unloading solution (0.8 M sucrose) at 40°C for 30 s than by dipping the frozen foil strips into a water bath at 40°C for 5 s (Kim *et al.* 2006; Yoon *et al.* 2006, 2007).

Unloading

In vitrification-based procedures, unloading is used to dilute the vitrification solution and remove cryoprotectants, which may otherwise cause phytotoxic effects to cells of cryopreserved tissues, thus reducing viability (Steponkus *et al.* 1992). For successful cryopreservation of potato by vitrification-based procedures, unloading is generally performed by incubation of warmed shoot tips with 0.8-1.2 M sucrose solution for 10-30 min (Hirai and Sakai 1998; Sarkar and Naik 1998; Zhao *et al.* 2005; Kim *et al.* 2006; Yoon *et al.* 2006).

Post-culture

As suggested by Bhojwani and Razdan (1996) and Wang et al. (2003a), shoot tips following cryopreservation may require a special medium for their survival and plant regeneration in the course of post-culturing. It is common that not all surviving shoot tips are able to regenerate shoots (Grout and Henshaw 1980; Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996; Benson et al. 1996; Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1997; Kaczmarczyk et al. 2006). Solid MS medium containing 30 g/l sucrose and supplemented with a combination of plant growth regulators such as those described by Towill (1983), Bouafia et al (1996), Sarkar and Naik (1998), and Yoon et al (2006) usually are beneficial to survival and plant regeneration. Recently, Zhao et al. (2005) reported that addition of low concentration (0.0005%) of Pluronic F-68, a difunctional block copolymer terminating in primary hydroxyl groups, to the post-culture medium significantly improved recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of two potato cultivars (S. tuberosum). A study performed by Kryszczuk et al. (2006) showed that shoot tips cryopreserved by droplet freezing regenerated shoots similarly both on solid and in liquid medium. However, regeneration was much lower in surviving shoot tips cryopreserved by vitrification than by droplet freezing, with many of them developing only callus when post-cultured in liquid medium. Post-culture conditions have also been found to affect recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips. A single shoot formed from each cryopreserved shoot tip when post-cultured on solid MS medium supplemented with 0.09 M sucrose and 2.9 μ M GA₃ under a 16 h photoperiod of 40 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ light intensity (Sarkar and Naik 1998). However, multiple shoots developed from each cryopreserved shoot tip when post-cultured on solid MS medium containing 0.2 M sucrose, 5.8 µM GA₃ and 1.0 μ M BA under a 16 h diffuse light (6 μ molm⁻²s⁻¹) for the first week, and then transferred to a 16 h photoperiod of 40 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ light intensity.

GENETIC STABILITY

As stated by Engelmann (1997), cell division and metabolism of plant materials stored in LN cease, and in theory, any genetic variations of materials stored in this way can be avoided. However, since cryopreservation techniques involve not only freezing in liquid nitrogen but also in vitro tissue culture and regeneration processes, cryostorage-derived plants may be subject to somaclonal variation induced during these stages, leading subsequently to distinct differences in their genotype/phenotype profiles (Harding 2004). Therefore, it is important to evaluate whether plant materials regenerated from cryostorage are true-to-type to the original stock materials. Until now, genetic stability of potato plants recovered from cryopreserved shoot tips has been evaluated at the morphological (Benson et al. 1996; Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996, 1997; Sarkar and Naik 1998; Hirai and Sakai 1999; Barandalla et al. 2003; Halmagyi et al. 2005; Keller et al. 2006), histological/cytological (Benson et al. 1996; Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996, 1997; Barandalla et al. 2003) and molecular levels (Harding 1991; Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996, 1997; Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000)

Survival and regeneration remained stable in shoot tips of 51 varieties that had been cryopreserved for several years (Mix-Wagner *et al.* 2003). Keller *et al* (2006) reported that regeneration capability remained unchanged in potato shoot tips that had been cryostored for up to 10 years. Morphologies of plants recovered from cryopreservation of different

potato varieties were identical to those of the control plants (Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996; Benson et al. 1996; Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1997; Mix-Wagner 1999, Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000; Halmagyi et al. 2005; Keller et al. 2006). Among the plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips of 98 cultivars, only one plant was abnormal, which was probably due to polyploidy (Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996, 1997). However, this suspected polyploid regenerant was not verified with flow cytometry (Schäfer-Menuhr et al. 1996, 1997). Using flow cytometry and DNA-fingerprinting for determining genetic stability of plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips, Schäfer-Menuhr et al (1996, 1997) found that, of the 161 samples of regenerated plants, neither polyploidy nor abnormal banding patterns were found, and no changes in restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) were detected. With six potato species including diploid, tetraploid and hexaploid species, Benson et al. (1996) found that ploidy status of all plants following cryostorage was stable and no chromosomal abnormalities were observed. Similar results were also obtained in potato plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips (Barandalla et al. 2003). No difference was observed in random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis using 17 primers between cryopreserved and the control plantlets (Hirai and Sakai 1999, 2000). Taking all these elements together, the conclusion can be reached that plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips of potato are genetically stable.

VIRUS ELIMINATION

Potato viral diseases constitute a major constraint to sustainable production of potato. Potato leafroll virus (PLRV) and Potato virus Y(PVY) are among the most popular viral diseases causing serious damages to potato crops (Loebenstein and Manadilova 2003; Valkonen 2007). Recently, cryotherapy of shoot tips has been found to efficiently eliminate plant pathogens such as viruses (Brison et al. 1997; Helliot et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2003b, 2006, 2008; Wang and Valkonen 2008). With potato, Wang et al. (2006) attempted to apply three cryotherapy procedures to elimi-nate PLRV and PVY. Results showed that both PLRV and PVY can be successfully eliminated with high virus-free frequencies of 83-86% and 91-95% obtained for PLRV and PVY, respectively, and no differences were found in efficiency of virus elimination among these three methods. The morphology of the plantlets regenerated from cryo-treated shoot tips was identical to that of non-treated plantlets. In comparison with the traditional methods, frequencies (83-86% for PLRV and 91-95% for PVY) of virus-free plantlets produced by cryotherapy were higher than those obtained by meristem culture (56% for PLRV and 62% for PVY) and thermotherapy (50% for PLRV and 65% for PVY), and similar to those achieved by thermotherapy followed by meristem culture (90% for PLRV and 93% for PVY). Survival (75-85%) and regrowth (83-89%) of cryo-treated shoot tips were higher than those obtained using meristem culture (50-55%) and thermotherapy followed by meristem culture (40-50%), but similar to those achieved using thermotherapy (80-87%). Furthermore, the time period required to implement the whole procedure was shortest for cryotherapy (about 55 days), while about 87 days were needed for thermotherapy and thermotherapy followed by shoot tip culture. Based on the above data, the authors suggested cryotherapy of shoot tips as a simple and efficient method for elimination of potato viruses. For the long-term preservation of potato genetic resources using shoot tips, virusfree stock cultures are required in order to preserve "clean" germplasm (Fabre and Dereuddre 1990; Bouafia *et al.* 1996; Sarkar and Naik 1998; Keller et al. 2003, 2006). Thus stock cultures are first subject to treatments of virus elimination and then virus-free cultures are used for cryopreservation. This is troublesome, costly and time-consuming. Because viruses can be efficiently eliminated by cryotherapy of shoot tips, virus elimination from the stock cultures

before cryopreservation can be avoided and the materials can be simultaneously prepared for both virus elimination and long-term preservation. After cryostorage, sanitary status of regenerated plants can be tested and virus-free materials be selected. Selection of virus-free materials is expected to be more efficient, since the majority of plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips is virus-free (Wang *et al.* 2006), thus largely reducing the cost and time duration required for virus elimination before cryopreservation.

CONCLUSIONS

Great efforts have been made during the last two decades to establish novel cryogenic procedures suitable for cryopreservation of shoot tips of Solanum species. Factors involved in the whole procedures from preparation of in vitro stock cultures to plant regeneration following cryopreservation have been extensively studied and found to affect the success of cryopreservation. Through these studies, various cryopreservation techniques have been established including droplet, vitrification, encapsulation-dehydration, encapsulation-vitrification and droplet-vitrification. Genetic stability of plants regenerated from cryopreserved shoot tips was confirmed by studies at the morphological and molecular levels. Routine application of cryopreservation of shoot tips to the long-term conversation of potato genetic resources has already started in Germany, Peru, Czech Republic and Korea. Cryotherapy of shoot tips was found to efficiently eliminate potato viruses, providing an alternative method for virus elimination and giving the additional value that the materials can be simultaneously prepared for longterm preservation. Yet, species- or cultivar-specific is the main difficulty, and has to be taken into consideration when cryo-protocols are to be developed. Fundamental studies on mechanism(s) by which potato shoot tips can withstand freezing in LN, which has received much less attentions in the previous studies, would help develop protocols suitable for cryopreservation of different potato species and cultivars.

REFERENCES

- Bajaj YPS (1977) Initiation of shoots and callus from potato-tuber sprouts and axillary buds frozen at -196°C. Crop Improvement 4, 48-53
- Bajaj YPS (1978) Tuberization in potato plants regenerated from freeze-preserved meristems. Crop Improvement 5, 137
- Bajaj YPS (1981) Regeneration of plants from potato meristems freeze-preserved for 24 months. *Euphytica* 30, 141-145
- Bajaj YPS (1991) Storage and cryopreservation of *in vitro* cultures. In: Bajaj YPS (Ed) *High-Tech and Micropropagation* (Vol 17), Springer, Berlin, pp 361-381
- Barandalla L, Sánchez I, Ritter E, Ruiz de Galarreta JI (2003) Conservation of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) cultivars by cryopreservation. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research 1, 9-13
- Benson EE, Harding K, Smith H (1989) Variation in recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of *Solanum tuberosum* exposed to different pre- and postfreeze light regimes. *Cryo-Letters* **10**, 323-344
- Benson EE, Wilkinson M, Todd A, Ekuere U, Lyon J (1996) Developmental competence and ploidy stability in plants regenerated from cryopreserved potato shoot-tips. *Cryo-Letters* 17, 119-128
- Bhojwani SS, Razdan MK (1996) Plant Tissue Culture: Theory and Practice, a Revised Edition, Elsevier Science BV, Amsterdam
- Bouafia S, Jelti N, Lairy G, Blanc A, Bonnel E, Bereuddre J (1996) Cryopreservation of potato shoot tips by encapsulation-dehydration. *Potato Research* 39, 69-78
- Bradshaw JE, Bryan GJ, Ramsay G (2006) Genetic resources (including wild and cultivated *Solanum* species) and progress in their utilisation in potato breeding. *Potato Research* 49, 49-65
- Brison M, Boucaud M, T-H, Pierronnet A, Dosba F (1997) Effect of cryopreservation on the sanitary state of a cv. *Prunus* rootstock experimentally contaminated with *Plum pox potyvirus*. *Plant Science* **123**, 189-196
- Criel B, Hausman J-F, Oufir M, Swennen R, Panis B, Renaut J (2006) Proteome and sugar analysis of abiotic stress underlying cryopreservation in potato. *Communications in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences* (*Ghent University*) **71**, 3-6
- **Engelmann F** (1997) *In vitro* conservation methods. In: Callow JA, Ford-Lloyd BV, Newbury HJ (Eds) *Biotechnology and Plant Genetic Resources*, CAB International, Oxford, pp 119-161
- Fabre J, Dereuddre J (1990) Encapsulation-dehydration, a new approach to

cryopreservation of Solanum shoot tips. Cryo-Letters 11, 413-426

- Fahy G M, MacFarlande DR, Angell CA, Meryman HT (1984) Vitrification as an approach to cryopreservation. *Cryobiology* **21**, 413-426
- Faltus M, Zamecnik J, Bilaveik A (2006) Osmotic stress pretreatment and cryopreservation of potato. *Cryobiology* **53**, 421-422
- Golmirzaie AM, Panta A (2000) Advances in potato cryopreservation at the International Potato Center, Peru. In: Engelmann F, Takagi H (Eds) *Cryopre*servation of Tropical Plant Germplasm – Current Research Progress and Applications, JIRCAS, Tsukuba, IPGRI, Rome, pp 250-254
- Golmirzaie AM, Panta A, Delgado C (2000) Structural observations on potato shoot-tips after thawing from liquid nitrogen. In: Engelmann F, Takagi H (Eds) Cryopreservation of Tropical Plant Germplasm – Current Research Progress and Applications, JIRCAS, Tsukuba, IPGRI, Rome, pp 388-392
- Gonzalez-Arnao MT, Panta A, Rosa WM, Escobar RH, Engelmann F (2008) Development and large scale application of cryopreservation techniques for shoot and somatic embryo cultures of tropical crops. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **92**, 1-13
- Grospietsch M, Stodůlková E, Zámečnik J (1999) Effect of osmotic stress on the dehydration tolerance and cryopreservation of *Solanum tuberosum* shoot tips. *Cryo-Letters* **20**, 339-346
- Grout BWW, Henshaw GG (1978) Freeze preservation of potato shoot-tip cultures. Annals of Botany 27, 77-86
- Grout BWW, Henshaw GG (1980) Structure observations on the growth of potato shoot-tip cultures after thawing from liquid nitrogen *Annals of Botany* 46, 243-248
- Halmagyi A, Deliu C, Coste A (2005) Plant regrowth from potato shoot tips cryopreserved by a combined vitrification-droplet method. *Cryo-Letters* 26, 313-322
- Harding K (1991) Molecular stability of the ribosomal RNA genes in *Solanum tuberosum* plants recovered from slow growth and cryopreservation. *Euphytica* 55, 141-146
- Harding K (2004) Genetic integrity of cryopreserved plant cells: a review. *Cryo-Letters* 25, 3-22
- Heller R (1953) Reserches sur la nutrition minerale des tissues vegetaux cultives 'in vitro'. Annales des Sciences Naturelles (Botanique) Biologie Vegetale 14, 1-223
- Helliot B, Panis B, Poumay Y, Swenen R, Lepoivre P, Frison E (2002) Cryopreservation for the elimination of cucumber mosaic and banana streak viruses from banana (*Musa* spp.). *Plant Cell Reports* **20**, 1117-1122
- Henshaw GG, Keefe DP, O'Hara JF (1985) Cryopreservation of potato meristems. In: Schäfer-Menuhr A (Ed) In Vitro Techniques: Propagation and Long Term Storage, Nijhoff/Junk, Dordrecht, pp 155-160
- Hirai D, Sakai A (1999) Cryopreservation of *in vitro*-grown meristems of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) by encapsulation-vitrification. *Potato Research* 42, 153-160
- Hirai D, Sakai A (2000) Cryopreservation of *in vitro*-grown meristems of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) by encapsulation-vitrification. In: Engelmann F, Takagi H (Eds) Cryopreservation of Tropical Plant Germplasm – Current Research Progress and Applications, JIRCAS, Tsukuba, IPGRI, Rome, pp 212-216
- Kaczmarczyk A, Rutten T, Melzer M, Keller ERJ (2006) Ultrastructural analysis of potato cryopreservation using the droplet method. *Cryobiology* 53, 426
- Kartha KK, Leung NL, Mroginski LA (1982) In vitro growth responses and plant regeneration from cryopreserved meristems of cassava (Manihot esculenta Crantz). Zeitschrift für Pflanzenphysiologie 107, 133-140
- Keller ERJ, Dreiling M (2003) Potato cryopreservation in Germany-using the droplet method for the establishment of a new large collection. Acta Horticulturae 623, 193-200
- Keller ERJ, Senula A, Leunufna S, Grübe M (2006) Slow growth storage and cryopreservation – tools to facilitate germplasm maintenance of vegetatively propagated crops in living plant collections. *International Journal of Refrigeration* 29, 411-417
- Kim H-H, Yoon J-W, Park Y-E, Cho E-G, Sohn J-K, Kim T-S, Engelmann F (2006) Cryopreservation of potato cultivated varieties and wild species: critical factors in droplet vitrification. *CryoLetters* 27, 223-234
- Kryszczuk A, Keller J, Grübe M, Zimnoch-Guzowska E (2006) Cryopreservation of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) shoot tips using vitrification and droplet method. Journal of Food, Agriculture and Environment 4, 196-200
- Loebenstein G, Manadilova A (2003) Potato in the central Asian Republics. In: Loebenstein G, Thottappilly G (Eds) Virus and Virus-Like Diseases of Major Crops in Developing Countries, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 195-222
- Mix-Wagner G (1999) The conservation of potato cultivars. *Potato Research* 42, 427-436
- Mix-Wagner G (2003) Recovery of potato apices after several years of storage in liquid nitrogen. *Cryo-Letters* 24, 33-42
- Morel G, Muller JF (1964) La culture in vitro du méristème apical de la

pomme de terre. Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Séances de l'Académie des Sciences (Paris) 258. 5250-2525

- Morel G, Wetmore RH (1951) Fern callus culture. American Journal of Botany 38, 141-143
- Murashige K, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassay with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiologia Plantarum* 15, 473-497
- Panta A, Panis B, Ynouye C, Criel B, Swennen R, Roca W (2006) Improvement of potato cryopreservation for the long-term conservation of Andean landraces at the International Potato Center (CIP). Cryobiology 53, 401
- Sakai A, Kobayashi S, Oiyama I (1990) Cryopreservation of nucellar cells of navel orange (*Citrus sinensis* Osb. Var. brasiliensis Tanaka) by vitrification. Plant Cell Reports 9, 30-33
- Sarkar D, Naik PS (1998) Cryopreservation of shoot tips of tetraploid potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) clones by vitrification. Annals of Botany 82, 455-461
- Sarkar D, Chandra R, Naik PS (1997) Effect of inoculation density on potato micropropagation. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 48, 63-66
- Schäfer-Menuhr A, Schumacher H-M, Mix-Wagner G (1994) Langzeitlagerung alter kartoffelsorten durch kryokonservierung der meristeme in flüssigem stickstoff. Landbauforschung Völkenrode 44, 301-313
- Schäfer-Menuhr A, Müller E, Mix-Wagner G (1996) Cryopreservation: an alternative for the long-term storage of old potato varieties. *Potato Research* 39, 507-513
- Schäfer-Menuhr A, Schumacher H-M, Mix-Wagner G (1997) Long-term storage of old potato varieties by cryopreservation of shoot-tips in liquid nitrogen. *Plant Genetic Resources Newsletter* 111, 19-24
- Schnabel-Preikstas B, Earle ED, Steponkus P (1992) Cryopreservation of potato shoot-tips by vitrification. Abstracts of Conference Papers 29th Annual Meeting of the Society for Cryobiology. Ithaca, New York, 14-19 June, p 48
- Steponkus PL, Langis R, Fujikawa S (1992) Cryopreservation of plant tissue by vitrification. In: Steponkus PL (Ed) Advances in Low Temperature Biology (Vol 1), JAI Press, London, pp 1-61
- Towill LE (1981a) Survival at low temperatures of shoot-tips from cultivars for Solanum tuberosum group tuberosum. Cryo-Letters 2, 373-382
- Towill LE (1981b) *Solanum tuberosum*: a model for studying the cryobiology of shoot-tips in the tuber-bearing *Solanum* species. *Plant Science Letters* **20**, 315-324
- Towill LE (1983) Improved survival after cryogenic exposure of shoot-tips derived from *in vitro* plantlets cultures of potato. Cryobiology 20, 567-573
- Towill LE (1984) Survival at ultra-low temperature of shoot tips from Solanum tuberosum groups andigena, phureja, stenotomum, tuberosum, and other tuber-bearing Solanum species. Cryo-Letters 5, 319-326
- Towill LE (1990) Cryopreservation of shoot-tips by vitrification. Abstracts of Conference Papers VII International Congress on Plant Tissue and Cell Culture, Amsterdam, 24-29 June, p 378
- Towill LE, Bonnart R (2003) Cracking in a vitrification solution during cooling or warming does not affect growth of cryopreserved mint shoot tips. *CryoLetters* 24, 341-346
- Valkonen JPT (2007) Viruses: Economical losses and biotechnological potential. In: Vreugdenhil D (Ed) Potato Biology and Biotechnology: Advances and Perspectives, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 620-640
- Wang QC, Li P, Batuman O, Gafny R, Mawassi M (2003a) Effect of benzyladenine on recovery of cryopreserved shoot tips of grapevine and citrus cultured *in vitro*. CryoLetters 24, 293-302
- Wang QC, Mawassi M, Li P, Gafny R, Sela I, Tanne E (2003b) Elimination of grapevine virus A (GVA) by cryopreservation of *in vitro*-grown shoot tips of *Vitis vinifera* L. *Plant Science* **165**, 321-327
- Wang QC, Lui Y, Xie LR, You MS (2006) Efficient elimination of *Potato leafroll virus* (PLV) and *Potato virus Y* (PVY) by cryopreservation of shoot tips. *Potato Research* 49, 119-129
- Wang QC, Cuellar WJ, Rajamaki M-L, Hirata Y, Valkonen JPT (2008) Combined thermotherapy and cryotherapy for efficient virus eradication: relation of virus distribution, subcellular changes, cell survival and viral RNA degradation in shoot tips. *Molecular Plant Pathology* 9, 237-250
- Wang QC, Valkonen JPT (2008) Elimination of two viruses which interact synergistically from sweetpotato by shoot tip culture and cryotherapy. *Journal of Virological Methods* 154, 135-145
- Yoon J-W, Kim H-H, Ko H-C, Hwang H-S, Hong E-S, Cho E-G, Engelmann F (2006) Cryopreservation of cultivated and wild potato varieties by droplet vitrification: effect of subculture of mother-plants and of preculture of shoot tips. *CryoLetters* 27, 211-222
- Yoon J-W, Kim H-H, Cho E-G, Ko H-C, Hwang H-S, Park Y-E (2007) Cryopreservation of cultivated and wild potato varieties by droplet vitrification procedure. Acta Horticulturae 760, 203-208
- Zhao MA, Xu YZ, Dhital SP, Khu DM, Song YS, Wang MY, Lim HT (2005) An efficient cryopreservation procedure for potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) utilizing the new ice blocking agent, Supercool X1000. *Plant Cell Reports* 24, 477-481